1965

John J. Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc., A Utah Corporation : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Insofar as pertinent to this appeal, the matter involves an action by Plaintiff and Appellant for money claimed to be due him from the Defendant and Respondent Happy Valley, Inc. under the terms of a written contract, in which action Appellant alleges breach of the contract, seeks a determination of his rights under such contract, an accounting by Respondent for the money due Appellant and for injunctive relief.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Although the Pretrial Order explicitly framed the issues and set the matter down for "jury trial," the

Judge before whom the case was tried determined at the beginning of the trial that the matter was one strictly for an equitable accounting and refused Appellant a jury trial. The Trial Court further limited the issues to be tried to an equitable accounting, resolved those issues against Appellant, fixed a formula upon which it decreed Respondent had to account, and directed that Respondent forthwith account on such basis without making any determination as to the amount owing.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks by this appeal to have the Supreme Court determine that the lower Court erred in its analysis and determination of the issues and in its analysis and interpretation of the contract; that on the basis of the agreement between the parties and the facts adduced at the trial Appellant was and is entitled to be paid by Respondent in respect to the transfer of title of various lots and parcels of property on the basis of a price or amount greater than that accounted by Respondent; and that Appellant was entitled to a jury trial in the determination of the issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about August 8, 1957, Appellant John J. Sweeney (and other parties not involved in this action) entered into a written Agreement with Respondent Happy Valley, Inc. providing for the subdivision, development and improvement of certain land located near the mouth

of Big Cottonwood Canyon in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. (R. 49-56)

The Agreement recites that First Party (Respondent herein) is the owner of, or entitled to sell, certain land situated in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, consisting of approximately 366 acres; that it desires to develop the said land and to subdivide a portion thereof for residential building lots and reserve a suitable portion thereof for use as a golf course and country club. The Agreement further recites that Second Party (of whom Appellant is the only party presently interested therein) is to effect the organization of a non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Utah, to be known as the Willow Creek Country Club, for the purpose of buying and developing a portion of said Entire Premises sufficient in area and terrain for an 18-hole golf course. (R. 49, 50)

Paragraph 6 of said Agreement (with which paragraph we are primarily concerned) provides that First Party intends "to develop, subdivide, and sell as residential lots, and a shopping center in conjunction therewith, all of said Entire Premises, except the Club Premises. Said Entire Premises shall not be sold or developed in any other manner except on the written consent of Second Party." (R. 51)

Said paragraph further provides that the "gross proceeds of sales of all such property sold for residential lots shall be divided" so that 75% would be paid to Respondent (First Party) and the other 25%, after initial deduction of a certain amount to pay a proportionate

part of the initial cost of acquisition of the property, should be paid to Second Party (Appellant and others).

In the event any part of the Entire Premises is traded or exchanged for other land "that portion of the Entire Premises so traded shall be valued on the basis of its fair market value for the purpose of determining gross proceeds of sale and applying the 75%-25% ratio hereinabove referred to."

Finally, Paragraph 6 provides that First Party shall render an accounting to Second Party "not less frequently than quarterly, showing all sales made from the Entire Premises and showing the gross proceeds of sale, together with a showing of the distribution thereof as provided in this paragraph. Sums due Second Party under the provisions of this paragraph shall be paid monthly." (R. 51, 52)

Paragraph 8 sets forth the respective interests of the persons who comprise Second Party, including Appellant Sweeney who was and is the owner of 31.8% of the 25% interest of Second Party. (R. 53) This interest entitles Appellant to receive 7.75% of the total gross proceeds referred to in the contract. Since then, the other persons comprising Second Party have transferred their respective interests to Respondent (First Party) thereby leaving Appellant as the only person entitled to share with Respondent in the gross proceeds from the sale of the "Entire Premises." Likewise, at the time the contract was executed C. Taylor Burton, Owen W. Bunker and G. Kirk Graff owned all the stock of First Party

(Respondent herein) in equal shares and were the officers and directors of the company. (R. 321) Prior to the commencement of this action Graff sold his interest in Respondent corporation to Burton and Bunker.

Subsequent to the execution of the foregoing contract Respondent provided with plans for a subdivision and entered into a contract with American Insurance Corporation about April 10, 1958, for the promotion of sales of the residential lots. (R. 510) A preliminary subdivision plan was prepared indentifying individual lots (Exhibit 31-P), listing "sales agency" contracts were executed with American Housing on September 21, 1958, for sale of individual lots ranging in price from \$3,999.00 to \$7,499.00 (Exhibit 21-P). (R. 512)

Within less than a month after these listing agreements were signed three lots in the proposed subdivision had been sold and earnest money receipts obtained (Exhibit 30-P). One lot was sold to a Mr. Bain for \$3,999.00, one to Howard J. Ford for \$4,999.00; and the other to O. V. Hansen for \$4,500.00 (Exhibit 30-P). However, since the subdivision had not been approved it was necessary to hold up sales so that no more were made prior to the approval of the subdivision plat. (R. 380) In fact, the earnest money agreements referred to above were called and "options" were given to the parties. (Exhibits 32-D, 33-D) Thereafter certain changes were made in the subdivision plat and a portion only of the Entire Premises was subdivided into four subdivisions with the lots being renumbered. The plat for subdivision 1 was filed and approved on November 4, 1959, after the subdivision improvements were put in. (R. 366)

During the interim the three principals of Respondent corporation (Burton, Bunker and Graff) were assessing themselves monthly for cash contributions to the corporation "to keep up the uniform real estate contracts underlying the subdivision, as well as to make payments on improvements being installed." (R. 366)

Shortly after subdivision 1, containing 40 lots, was approved Respondent corporation conveyed to the three principals who were its sole stockholders, officers and directors, 24 lots in that subdivision. (R. 323, 388, 507)

The plats for subdivisions 2 and 3 containing 110 lots, were recorded on April 5, 1961; and on May 10, 1961, Respondent corporation conveyed to Owen W. Bunker 1 lot in subdivision 1, 12 lots in subdivision 2 and 11 lots in subdivision 3. At the same time 5 lots in subdivision 2 and 19 lots in subdivision 3 were conveyed to G. Kirk Graff; and 3 lots in subdivision 2 and 21 lots in subdivision 3 were conveyed to C. Taylor Burton. (R. 324, 388, 507, Exhibit 14-D)

In a letter sent to Appellant under date of May 26, 1961, Respondent corporation outlined certain difficulties which it stated had been encountered in getting the subdivision plats approved and lots sold so that the individual officers "have had to make cash contributions." Respondent then stated that these contributions "had been secured to the sponsors by the corporation deeding to them sufficient lots to equal the cash necessary to keep the company's land payments current." The basis used as value was stated to be \$3,000.00 per lot which the letter said had been established by outside appraisers (Exhibit

42-P). The appraisals referred to were received in evidence in Exhibits 8-D through 13-D, inclusive. They are dated in October and November, 1960, and August, 1961, although they relate back to December, 1960. They involve only lots in subdivision 1 and were used in connection with an investigation by the Federal Government "on tax questions concerning the valuation." (R. 371)

Two of the appraisals (Exhibits 8-D and 9-D) are very general and give a value of an average of \$3,000.00 per lot. Two other appraisals (Exhibits 9-D and 13-D) were made in a more detailed manner and appraised the lots at an average value of \$3,500.00 and \$3,450.00 per lot respectively.

The corporate minutes of Respondent show that on November 4, 1959, the corporation was indebted to each of the three stockholders in the sum of \$17,000.00 represented by unsecured notes, and that Mr. Bunker was unwilling to make further contributions without "some kind of security for a return of some of funds already advanced. As a method of reducing the company's obligation to the principals he suggested each taking title to some lots to offset some of the company's borrowings. The lots would be taken at cost, after determining same, or \$3,000.00 which was offered by Mr. Shaw, or whichever was greater." (R. 35)

On some of the lots taken by the principals there were outstanding mortgages of \$2,000.00 (R. 577) so that the corporation received from the principals a reduction of \$1,000.00 only on its indebtedness to them since

they individually assumed such mortgage indebtedness. (R. 579, Exhibit 42-P) Likewise a portion of the indebtedness owing by Respondent company to its stockholders (at least insofar as G. Kirk Graff was concerned) arose from salary rather than from cash contributions. (R. 507)

In addition to the lots conveyed to the principals Respondent made other transfers or sales.

On or about April 6, 1959, a tract of land approximately the size of one lot was conveyed to the Salt Lake Water Conservancy District on which a well was located. (R. 31) This property is referred to throughout the Record as the "wellsite."

On or about April 4, 1961, a small portion of lot 2, subdivision 2, was conveyed to a David L. Jessup to clarify the boundary line. (R. 32)

On or about January 29, 1962, Respondent conveyed a tract of approximately 30 acres (surveyed by George B. Gudgell to be 31.07 acres) (R. 275) to Twenty-Five Associates, Inc. and R. E. McConaughy in exchange for their interest (as some of Second Party) in the contract dated August 8, 1957. (R. 31, 32) Twenty-Five Associates, Inc. owned 41.4% of Second Party's interest in said contract and Mr. McConaughy owned 9.5%. (R. 53)

On or about April 30, 1962, Respondent conveyed to Estates, Inc. a tract of land in excess of two acres, comprising a portion of several lots in subdivision 4 in exchange for the offsite improvement on Respondent's lots in subdivision 4. (R. 32, 394-397)

None of these transactions had ever been reported to Appellant or accounted for by Respondent prior to the trial (Exhibits 14-D, 15-D and 16-D). At the trial Respondent acknowledged that an accounting had to be made for the 30 acre tract conveyed to Twenty-Five Associates, Inc. and McConaughy. (R. 268)

A few other lots were sold and conveyed to third parties as reflected on the accountings rendered by Appellant. (Exhibits 14-D, 15-D and 16-D)

The balance of the lots remaining in subdivisions 1, 2, and 3 (33 in number) were sold under a contract to Gordon and Bush, Inc. on July 15, 1963, for \$181,500.00 or approximately \$5,500.00 per lot. This contract involved a down payment of \$500.00 only and allowed the buyers four years to complete the purchase provided not less than seven lots per year were paid for. (Exhibit 27-P)

Insofar as the other property comprising the "Entire Premises" is concerned a portion was subdivided as subdivision 4; and the balance is yet to be developed. After the present action was filed and on or about September, 1962, an additional four lots in subdivision 4 were transferred each to C. Taylor Burton and to Owen W. Bunker who by then were the sole stockholders of the company. (R. 32) The consideration for the sale was still \$3,000.00 per lot. (R. 324, 389)

Some of the lots conveyed to the principals were sold by them to other individuals. For instance, on April 4, 1962, Burton transferred Lot 559 in subdivision 1 to

Gibbons and Reed Company for a credit of \$6,250.00 on the balance owing to Gibbons and Reed Company by Respondent company for offsite improvements. At the same time Mr. Bunker transferred Lot 589 in subdivision 1 to Gibbons and Reed Company for a credit of \$6,200.00 on such obligation owing by Respondent company. (R. 331, 91, 94) Other conveyances of lots by the principals are set forth in the Answers to Interrogatories filed by them. (R. 91-94) However, the Trial Court refused to receive testimony with respect to many other such conveyances made. (R. 582-591)

The first formal accounting made by Respondent to Appellant (or others of Second Party) on account of any sales of lots by Respondent corporation was made July 17, 1962. (R. 253, 1019, Exhibit 14-D). This accounting showed the number of lots conveyed by Respondent to Mr. Burton, Mr. Bunker and Mr. Graff up to that time. (Exhibit 14-D)

Following receipt of the July 17, 1962, accounting, Appellant herein filed legal action against the Respondent company and its officers and directors Owen W. Bunker, C. Taylor Burton and G. Kirk Graff, said action being filed on August 17, 1962 (R. 1-3) The Complaint was thereafter amended twice. (R. 69, 121) Motions filed on behalf of the individual Defendants were ultimately granted by the Court (R. 175); and all causes of action other than the Second Cause of Action were dismissed prior to or in connection with the pretrial conference held. (R. 175, 261)

A pretrial was held on September 11, 1963. The Pretrial Order entered by the Court recites that the "Second Cause of Action is an action for an accounting for declaratory relief as to the rights of the Plaintiff and for injunctive relief, all of which arises out of the photostatic copy of the contract which is a part of the file herein," entered into on August 8, 1957. (R. 195)

The issues framed by the Court as to the Second Cause of Action are as follows:

"1. Whether the Plaintiff is entitled to have the lots which were conveyed from the corporation to the individual officers and directors of the corporation accounted for at any other value than that which was fixed by those officers and directors at the time of such conveyances;

"2 Whether the Plaintiff is entitled to have the subdivided lots which were conveyed to other persons than those mentioned above evaluated at any other figure than that heretofore asserted by the corporation; and

"3. Whether the Plaintiff is entitled to have the undivided tracts of land which have heretofore been conveyed out of the corporation evaluated as residential lots, and if so, at what value." (R. 195)

In addition to the foregoing issues the Judge who conducted the pretrial further stated in the Pretrial Order that the Plaintiff contends "That it is entitled to a declaratory judgment determining his rights under the August 8, 1957, contract as to accountings, time of

payment, and the rate and manner of development of the properties subject of the Agreement.” (R. 196)

The Pretrial Order further states:

“At the time of the pretrial it was stipulated and agreed by and between the Plaintiff and the Defendant that Plaintiff is entitled to an accounting as to the improved lots conveyed by the Defendant. Defendant contends that the accountings should be predicated on the actual gross proceeds received by the corporation for the lots conveyed. Plaintiff contends that he is entitled to an accounting based on the fair market value of the property as residential lots at the times of conveyance.”

“As to the unimproved property, which has been conveyed by the Defendant, Defendant contends first that Plaintiff is not entitled to an accounting on this unimproved property. However, in the event the Court determines that Plaintiff is so entitled to such an accounting, then it is Defendant’s contention that such accounting should be predicated only on the fair market value of the property conveyed as unimproved property at the time of the conveyance. The Plaintiff contends that they are entitled to the fair market value of that property as subdivided residential lots at that time.” (R. 197)

The Pretrial Order then directs that the case “be set for jury trial” (such trial having been demanded by Appellant herein) for December 9, 1963. (R. 194)

The matter came on for trial before the Honorable Merrill C. Faux, who dismissed the jury at the beginning

of the trial, because he determined the case involved only an equitable accounting between the parties. Counsel for Appellant at the time of trial excepted to the Court's ruling, stating that Plaintiff had filed a Demand for Jury Trial and paid a fee, that Plaintiff was entitled to a jury (R. 249). Respondent was permitted to go forward with the proof by offering in evidence the accountings theretofore made to Appellant on July 17, 1962 (Exhibit 14-D), December 26, 1962 (Exhibit 15-D), and September 9, 1963 (Exhibit 16-D), following which the Court stated that "it appears to the Court that the charge is somewhat in the nature of an action in fraud — certain things have done here which you now seek relief upon, saying that they have done, but done by bad faith so that it isn't simply a charge of breach of contract where you would ask for certain damages and proceed upon proof to the extent of preponderance but that you may be required to make your proof clear and convincing." (R. 259) Appellant replied that he did not claim bad faith, but rather that Respondent "entered into this transaction with themselves."

"They conveyed from the corporation they controlled, to themselves, this property." "What we are claiming here, is that they have simply breached the contract; doesn't matter whether they did it in good faith or not."

"If they breached it, they breached it. We claim the contract required them to make sales which would require market value, and that they made sales to themselves which did not establish market value because who is the judge in a sale to yourself — not yourself, of course. That is our point. It isn't the question of bad faith, at all." (R. 260)

The Court then stated its view:

“Now, if you contend that they proceeded under the contract and that the difference between you is interpretation of the contract, then that is probably for the Court to determine — what is meant by the parties as sign their names to it.

* * *

“Second, this will be then — after I have interpreted it — did the parties proceed in accordance with that interpretation? That may be a mixed question of law and fact.” (R. 261)

After further discussion, the Court finally concluded:

“I am going to proceed as though this were an action in equity for an accounting between the parties . You have, by Stipulation, presented to me now what the parties have offered to do in a way of accounting.

“Plaintiff may proceed carrying the burden of proof — carrying the burden of going forward — and the burden of proof charging that, under the contract, a proper accounting has not been made or tendered.” (R. 267)

The case thereupon proceeded to trial. Following a rather protracted hearing lasting several days, during which the examination of Appellant’s witnesses was frequently and repeatedly interrupted for so-called “voir dire” examination, the Court rendered a memorandum decision in which it:

1. Rejected the position of Appellant and that Respondent was required to go forward with proof to sustain the adequacy and propriety of the accounting by clear and convincing evidence;

2. Rejected Appellant's claim that he should be granted relief against Respondent "as for a breach of contract";

3. Rejected Appellant's request for a jury trial;

4. Determined that the matter had to be tried as an equitable accounting;

5. Determined that Appellant had the burden of proving the conduct of the Respondent corporation toward Appellant was dishonest and fraudulent;

6. Accepted evidence of fair market value as one of the factors which would enable it to decide whether Respondent's actions were "so far from reasonable conduct that equity would require different standards than those already used or proposed in the accounting;"

7. Commented that Appellant's witnesses on "fair market value" gave the impression of having had "more than necessary instruction" from Appellant "in hope that they would reproduce his views;" while the testimony of Respondent's witnesses was more helpful to the Court; and

8. Concluded that Respondent must include in its accounting interest on receipts from deferred payment contracts and "must now promptly account and pay" in accordance with the Court's decision and hereafter "account and pay promptly when there is something to account and pay, at the time prescribed in the contract."

The Court otherwise resolved the issues in favor of Respondent, denied any relief to Appellant, and di-

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