1966

John J. Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc., A Utah Corporation : Brief of Respondent

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

There being no fiduciary relationship in the case, the doctrine and authorities upon which Sweeney depends have no application. But the argument of Sweeney in Point I(B) of his Brief does not stop here. He seems to claim, in addition, that a fiduciary obligation is due from the Directors of Happy Valley to Sweeney (App. Br., pp. 32, 33, 34, 38). The fallacy of that argument is that the directors are not parties to the accounting or to any aspect of the litigation. Furthermore, it is an established rule of law that there is no fiduciary relationship between directors of a corporation and contract creditors of the corporation. *Patterson v. Stewart*, 41 Minn. 84, 42 N. W. 926 (1889). The Wyoming Supreme Court, in *Webb v. Cash*, 35 Wyo. 398, 250 Pac. 1 (1926), said it this way:

“It is difficult to perceive upon what principle a director of a corporation can be considered a trustee of its creditors. * * * he has no

contractual relation with the latter; he represents a distinct entity, the corporation and his relations to its creditors is exactly the same as the agent of an individual bears to creditors of such individuals; and it is not pretended that in the latter case the agent would be the trustee of the creditors of his principal * * *."

The lower Court was correct in determining that the burden rested with Sweeney in proving that the sales and conveyances from Happy Valley to Bunker, Burton and Graff were not in good faith so as to require a different accounting.

Lastly, Sweeney takes time out in Point I(B) to argue the weight of the expert testimony on market value (App. Br., pp. 38-40). While such evidence has no direct or indirect connection with the burden of proof issue and is subject to a motion to strike, the following is a rebuttal to such collateral matter. Contrary to the notions of Sweeney's present counsel, it was clearly understood by the parties in the trial Court that testimony on market value was not received as independent evidence upon which the accounting of Happy Valley was to be predicated. Its admissibility was of a more refined purpose, viz., as but one of a number of factors which the trial Court would weigh in determining whether the conveyances of Happy Valley to its Directors were unfair, unreasonable or unconscionable so as to require a different accounting. Most of the evaluation testimony was of an ex post facto nature. That is to say, the appraisal judgments were formed after the time, the legal effect of which was in question. The ap-

praisal of William A. Myrick, made at the request of Happy Valley Directors and prior to the time when the conveyances were made, revealed a market value of \$3,000.00 per lot. The trial judge found Myrick's testimony to be of "practical" significance in the decision of what was fair and wise at the time the sales and conveyances were made to the Directors.

Although this Court will review the evidence in an equity proceeding, it will not disturb the findings of the trial Court unless they are clearly against the weight of the evidence. *Hart Bros. Music Co. v. Wood*, 14 U. 2d 366, 384 P. 2d 591 (1963); *Nunley v. Walker*, 13 U. 2d 105, 369 P. 2d 117 (1962).

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT CONSIDERED AND MADE EXPRESS FINDINGS ON SWEENEY'S RIGHTS UNDER THE 1957 CONTRACT FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND SALE OF PROPERTY.

In Point I(C) of Sweeney's Brief, it is asserted that the lower Court "refused to consider any testimony regarding the terms of the Contract with respect to the development of the properties and made no findings in reference to the rights of Appellant in respect thereto" (App. Br., pp. 40-1). Conspicuously, however, Sweeney fails to make reference in this phase of his Appeal to any testimony offered by him during the ten-day trial on such issue. Sweeney had an obligation to present testimony in the trial

Court in support of his theory in this regard, rather than proposing the same for the first time on appeal. *Hamilton v. Salt Lake County Sewage Improvement Dist.*, 15 U. 2d 216, 390 P. 2d 235 (1964).

Contrary to the self-sustained assertions in Sweeney's Brief, the trial Court made the following express conclusions regarding his rights under the Contract:

"6. The Agreement of August 8, 1957 imposes no obligation on Happy Valley to develop or sell the premises on any time schedule and plaintiff has no right of veto over Happy Valley's actions with regard thereto, save and except that plaintiff's prior consent is required in the event Happy Valley seeks to sell or develop said premises other than for residential purposes and a shopping center.

"7. Plaintiff is not entitled to any injunctive relief as prayed."

The answer to Sweeney's claim in Point I(C) is complete by the statement that the lower Court did consider and interpret Sweeney's rights under the Contract and incorporated the same within the Decree. Reduced to more practical considerations, his claim is not that the trial Court did not find on the issue, but that the finding was not to his liking.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN REJECTING SWEENEY'S OFFER OF PROOF AS TO SALES OF OTHER PROPERTY.

- (1) *At the time of the proffer, there was no foundation as to the terms of the sales, the relationship of the buyer and seller and other factors necessary to determine comparability.*

The opening sentence in Point I(D) of Sweeney's Brief is classic:

"By the Court limiting the trial to a hearing of an equitable accounting at the outset of the trial, Appellant was very limited in the nature of the testimony which he could adduce. * * *" App. Br., p. 43).

Under the broad daylight of the transcript made in this case, such a remark is ludicrous. Sweeney was given leave to call witnesses and present testimony in whatever order desired. Time and again, witnesses were called and recalled out of turn by his counsel (R. 509, 537, 541, 578). Sweeney was even permitted to employ (what he admittedly called) "discovery" during the course of the trial (R. 339-41).

The source for his statement above-quoted is not easily ascertained. It cannot stem from the trial Court's refusal to admit into evidence Sweeney's offer of proof (through the testimony of Bunker) of certain sales (Nicolaidis, Prows, Inc., Johnson, Rowley, McKay, and Award Homes), and from the further proffer (through the testimony of Burton) of other sales (Gordon, Ferre, Manley, Gordon and Bush, and Dyson), because the ruling made by the lower Court thereon is consistent with the decisional law in

this jurisdiction. There is no doubt from the record that Sweeney made the proffer to evidence that such sales were comparable to the subject properties in litigation and relevant in determining market value of the latter (R. 581-91). Counsel for Sweeney began his offer of proof by saying:

“MR. HATCH: I have an offer of proof I would like to make, your Honor, and, if we could do this a little before trial in the morning, be a lot easier.

“THE COURT: All right; are you going to make an offer of proof; why don't you put your witness on?

“MR. HATCH: This, your Honor, merely refers to the *direct evidence of comparable sales* which the Court has not permitted me to bring in.

“THE COURT: Direct evidence of comparable sales?

“MR. HATCH: Yes; * * *” (R. 581-82).

Upon objection, such offers of proof were refused because there was no foundation at that point from expert witnesses that the sales contained in the proffer were, in fact, comparable to the properties in litigation. The law is settled in this State that as a condition to the admissibility of sales of collateral property, it must be evidenced by competent expert testimony that such sales, their location, terms and parties are, in fact, of reasonable comparison with the property before the Court. *State Road Comm. v. Peterson*, 12 U. 2d 317, 366 P. 2d 76 (1961); *Southern Pacific Co. v. Arthur*, 10 U. 2d 306, 352 P. 2d 693 (1960); *State of Utah v. Peek*, 1 U. 2d 263, 265 P. 2d 630 (1953).

Absent such foundation, a sale is not admissible as direct evidence of market value. *State Road Comm. v. Woolley*, 15 U. 2d 56, 390 P. 2d 860 (1964). Both Burton and Bunker testified as laymen, not as experts. It is difficult to perceive Sweeney's concern on the question, since the sales within the proffer were ultimately received by the Court as bearing on market value through subsequent expert witnesses of Sweeney and under his cross-examination of Happy Valley witnesses (R. 479, 482, 484, 485-91, 556-563, 629, 631-40, 865-880, 1237-1241).

Sweeney further argues that it was error not to receive evidence with respect to negotiations between Happy Valley and the Federal Government over tax liabilities on the properties sold by Happy Valley to the Directors. It is said that the lower Court foreclosed cross-examination of C. Taylor Burton as to appraisals (Ex. 8D-13D) obtained by the Directors and "used" in connection with "difficulties with the Federal Government", in the re-evaluation of the lots under litigation for tax purposes (App. Br., p. 45-6). While Appellant makes no reference to that portion of the Record wherein the cross-examination and error is said to have taken place, it is assumed, for purposes of this rebuttal, that such is found at R. 1170. Sweeney's argument on this score is much more sophisticated than a fair reading of the Record allows. There is no evidence, as his contention would infer, that Happy Valley obtained the concerned appraisals for tax negotiation purposes. The testimony is all to the contrary. Mr. Burton at R. 371, indicated that such appraisals were merely "referred to" in

negotiation with federal tax personnel. But the cross-examination of Burton at R. 1170, of which Sweeney now complains, did not concern appraisal data at all. It was directed at the evaluation of 24 subdivision lots for the compromise of a tax liability:

By Mr. Hatch for Sweeney:

“Now, following the transfer of twenty-four lots in Subdivision 1 from the corporation to you and to the two directors of the corporation, did not the Federal Government for tax purposes, require that you re-evaluate those at a different figure?” (R. 1170).

There was clearly no foundation before the Court to suggest that such a question was germane to the issues of market value or good faith, and until such foundation was presented, the possible compromise of subsequent tax liabilities was properly excluded as irrelevant. *2 Jones on Evidence*, 726, Sec. 390 (5th Ed., 1958).

POINT V.

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION THAT THE 1957 CONTRACT CALLED FOR AN ACCOUNTING BASED ON “GROSS PROCEEDS OF SALES.”

Point II of Sweeney’s Brief argues that the trial Court failed to interpret properly the 1957 Contract between the parties in that it did not accept Sweeney’s theory as to the basis for the accounting. Capsulized, that theory was two-fold: (1) that he is entitled to an accounting predi-

cated upon the "*fair market value* of the property, at the time of the conveyance, as residential lots" and (2) that any sale made is subject to his retrospective determination of market value. Although Sweeney was willing to accept an accounting on the Estates, Inc., transaction on the basis of gross proceeds rather than market value because gross proceeds yielded a larger return in that instance, his objections to Happy Valley's accounting and request for declaratory and injunctive relief were fastened, in the main, to these two proposals.

The 1957 Contract makes it crystal clear that Sweeney is wrong on both arguments. Paragraph 6 of the Contract expressly provides that the accounting is to be based upon gross proceeds of sales and not fair market value:

"The *gross proceeds* of sales of all of such properties sold for residential lots shall be divided into two portions, one equal to seventy-five percent (75%) and the other equal to twenty-five percent" (R. 80).

Whatever the gross proceeds of a particular sale consummated by Happy Valley is, Sweeney is entitled to an accounting of those proceeds and a tender of money from Happy Valley of 7.95 percent thereof. So far as fair market value of the property sold may be related to the gross proceeds received from the sale, all that the Contract fairly implies and imports is that Happy Valley transact the sales fairly, reasonably and in good faith. To that end, however, Happy Valley is free to exercise its own business judgment — and such may be more or less than what Sweeney or

anyone might later peg as market value. If Happy Valley consummates a sale for an amount in excess of a property's fair market value, Sweeney is entitled to 7.95 percent of the gross proceeds, nothing less. By the same mark, if a sale is made by Happy Valley and later determined to be less than fair market value, Sweeney is entitled to the same percentage of the gross proceeds of such sale, nothing more. The bitter goes with the sweet. To construe the 1957 Contract as requiring a division between the parties on a basis other than gross proceeds would be to rewrite and reform the Agreement, a theory which not even Sweeney, to this time, has asserted.

As to the second part of his argument, the Contract does not grant to him a right to concur in the terms or nature of sales made by Happy Valley. No clause entitles him to veto a transaction or to accept it on his conditions. Nor does the Contract in any degree afford him the luxury of a "second guess" as to whether a sale made by Happy Valley was the right thing to do under the circumstances. The lower Court was of this conclusion (R. 218).

The trademark of the gross proceeds test under the Contract is that sum received by the Corporation in the sale consummated and not the value of what it conveyed. To insure that the gross proceeds received by Happy Valley were fair and in good faith, the Court took evidence concerning four categories of transactions, the accountings as to which Sweeney objected. Each is discussed in chronological order.

Lot sales to Directors. As set forth in the Statement of Facts, Happy Valley sold and conveyed numerous lots to its Directors, Burton, Bunker and Graff, at \$3,000.00 per lot. Sweeney admitted at one point of the trial that had the sales been consummated with third parties, he would have been bound thereby and entitled to 7.95 percent of the gross proceeds (R. 345). That the sales were, in fact, made to the Directors of Happy Valley does not warrant a different result since there is no fiduciary relationship between Happy Valley and Sweeney.

Why did Happy Valley sell the lots to the Directors? The reasons were that the initial demands for cash on Happy Valley were far greater than anticipated, having been accelerated by requests from Willow Creek Country Club for fee title conveyance rather than on extended real estate contract as originally planned (R. 360, 365, 522, 532-5, 1131-3, 1145). The lot sales program had not materialized and there was no ready market for them at a price less than \$3,000.00 (R. 366-70, 372-86, 514-28, 599, 1163-4). Faced with an almost certainty that the project would fail if funds were not provided, the Directors bought the lots themselves at a price fair and reasonable at the time.

There is a plethora of evidence that the lot price of \$3,000.00 was established not arbitrarily or collusively, but only after consideration of the foregoing factors and the opinions of disinterested parties, i. e., William Myrick, a banker; appraisers, Stahle, Nelson and Ashton; and realtors and builders, Manford Shaw and Holmes (R. 1173-83, Ex. 8D-13D). Sweeney's answer to this testimony came in

the form of retrospective appraisals of three individuals, Tucker, Teerlink and Kiepe. The testimony of each had the air of advocacy and, as the trial Court put it in its Memorandum Decision, gave the impression:

“That the witnesses had been given more than necessary instruction by Plaintiff himself in the hope that they would reproduce his views. I think I detected frustration in these witnesses attempting to develop for the Court the blueprint which Plaintiff himself had insisted upon, rather than giving a more spontaneous expression of comparative values which finally would have been more helpful to me. * * *” (R. 208).

Mr. Kiepe, who had appraised the properties in 1959 prior to retainment by Sweeney, initially evaluated the land at substantially less than \$3,000.00 per lot. His 1962 and 1963 appraisals of the same properties as of the 1959 date reflected values five times the greater (Ex. 1P, 38P, 22P). Of further interest was the fact that the Second Party, including Sweeney, in May, 1960, equated \$275,000.00 to the value of 75 lots in the subdivision, or \$3,333.00 per lot (R. 1095, Ex. 52D). Although Happy Valley offered to sell lots to Second Party at \$3,000.00 (R. 1058, Ex. 42P), neither Second Party nor Sweeney, individually, accepted the offer.

The trial Court found from these and other facts that the sales from Happy Valley to its Directors were not unfair, unreasonable, shocking, unconscionable or fraudulent (Findings 17-20, R. 215-16). It is the settled law of the case that those Findings will not be overturned by this

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